FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/3/2023 8:00 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Cause No. 101475-9

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

State Of Washington
Respondent,

Michael Leon Palmer

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael Palmer
(Print Your Name)
Petitioner, Pro se.
DOC# 409 168 , Unit
Monroe Correctional Complex / TRU
(Street Address)
P.O. Box 888
Monroe, WA 98272

A. Identity Of Petitioner

I, Michael Leon Palmer, the Petitioner, acting prose, respectfully ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. Court Of appeals Decision

Palmer asks this Court to accept review of the decision in Court of appeals, Div. II, No. 52362-1-II, filed Oct. 11, 2022. The motion for reconsideration was denied Nov. 7, 2022.

a copy of the Court of appeals decision is attached as appendix 1. A copy of the Order Denying Motion For Reconsideration is attached as appendix 2.

C. Issues Presented For Review 1. Is the Court of appeals holding that CrR 8.3 (b) dismissal due to discovery violations requires a proven Brady violation in conflict with the appellate court holdings in State v. Sherman and State v. Brooks; thereby, allowing non-Brady violation dismissal?

2. Did the Court of appeals err in holding Palmer "fails to argue how the Holmes report or the photos themselves were exculpatory or impeaching"; when, based on US v. agurs

and Strickler v. Greene, Palmer did argue a materially exculpatory issue for the Holmes Report, centered around venue change; thereby, showing a due process Brady violation and supporting CrR 8.3(b) dismissal under State v. Martinez?

3. Did the Court of appeals err in not holding that all class a felony defendants are entitled to the greater protection of RCW 10.21.060 bail hearings under Wash. Const. art1, \$20, due process and equal protection? [ancillary]

D. Statement of the Case

Palmer was convicted of child molestation in the first degree, assault in the fourth degree, and assault of a child in the second degree (Grays Harbor County, No. 17-1-00203-1) by a jury that was told by the trial judge "The defendant has entered pleas of guilt to these charges." Report of Proceeding (RP)(July3, 2018) at 216.

Palmer appealed and was granted reversal and retrial based on denial of counsel. State v Palmer, 18 wnapp 2d 825, 493 P3d 159 (2021) (withdrawn). Palmer's consel filed a motion to reconsider based on failure to address Palmer's Statement of additional Grounds (appendix 4, Statement of additional Grounds (SaG) at 1-60) which was granted. The Published Opinion (appendix I, Published Opinion (Slip op), October 11,2022 at 1-20) was entered, holding that: (1) Palmer was denied his right to counsel (slip op. at 7,10); (2) the trial court was prohibited from modifying its courtroom procedures as it did (slip op. at12); (3) the State violated Palmer's right against selfincrimination (slip op. at 12); (4) Sac Ground 1 - attorney Client Privilege was declined; (5) SaG Ground 2 - alleged Brady Violations fails as: some documents were not part of the trial record (slip op. at 16), PD's statements were provided prior to trial (slip op at 16), palmer failed to demonstrate a Brady violation from the ab scrath material (slip op. at 17), the Christmas video and photos could have been obtained (slip op at 17); (6) Sac Ground 3 - Fair Bail and Release Conditions was declined as most (slip op. at 18-19); (7) Sac Ground 4- Speedy Trial could not be addressed due to lack of record (slip op at 19); (8) SaG Ground 5Cumulative Error fails as none of the arguments warrant reversal, another motion for reconsideration was filed based on counsels late filing of record. Appendix 3, Motion For Reconsideration (Oct. 19, 2022), It was denied. Appendix 2. Palmer now files for review.

E. Argument Why Review Should Be accepted

Issue I-Is the Court of appeals holding that CrR 8.3 (b)

dismissal due to discovery violations requires a proven

Brady violation in conflict with the appellate court

holdings in State v. Sherman and State v. Brooks, thereby
allowing non-Brady violation dismissal?

1.1 Review of this issue should be accepted as: (1) the Court of appeals decision conflicts with other appellate court decisions (Rap 13.4(b)(2)) and the ramifications of flagrant misconduct by the State to deny or delay discovery is of continuing and substantial public interest (Rap 13.4(b)(4)).

1.2 The Court of appeals held that Palmer's argument for dismissal due to the States failure" to produce the ab scratch material" fails as "Palmer fails to demonstrate a Brady violation with respect to the ab scratch material..." Slip op. at 16-17. Palmer disagrees as he also cited to State v. Sherman, 59 Wnapp 763, 801 p2d 274 (1990). Sac, § 2.29 at 25. Sherman does not require a Brady violation to support discovery violation based dismissal.

1,3 The Sherman Court found that the State had

promised to produce IRS records from one of their witnesses and then failed to act with due diligence so the IRS records were not produced. The Sherman Court wrote "The States failure to produce the IRS records, in and of itself, is a sufficient ground on which to affirm the dismissal." Sherman, 59 wnapp at 768. 1.4 More on point to Palmer's case is State v Brooks, 149 Wn app 373, 203 p3d 397 (2009), wherein the State promised to deliver the lead detectives report but failed to do so. The Brooks Court held "It seems unlikely that this report could be immaterial in any circumstances, and it was certainly material as to how defense counsel would have interviewed the investigator at trial. The delayed and missing discovery prevented defense counsel from preparing for trial in a timely fasion ... we also know the potential ramifications if the State's behavior is not curtailed the trial court did not abuse its discretion by failing to require [the defendants] to establish the materiality of evidence the State had not yet disclosed the trial court did not abuse its discretion by finding governmental mismanagement and prejudice." Brooks, 149 wnapp at 390-91. 1.5 Niether Sherman or Brooks required a proven Brady violation. They only required mismanagement that resulted in a broken promise by the State to provide some part of potentially material discovery. Palmer case meets those requirements.

1.6 Judicial Misconduct - The trial judge committed misconduct by: (i) denying Palmer the presumption of innocence (POI); (SQG, § D7 at 7 (jury told Palmer "entered pleas of guilty")); thus, denying Palmer fair trial (State v Jamie, 168 Wnzd 857, 861, 233 P3d 554 (2010)) and causing "great prejudice" (State v Johnson, 159 Wn app 677, 685-86, 243 p3d 936 (2007)); (2) denying Palmer counsel (slip op. at 7,10); thus, denying Palmer fair trial (State v Boyd, 160 wn 2d 424,434, 158 P3d 54 (2007)) and causing Palmer uncalculable prejudice (State v Granacki, 90 Wn app 598, 603, 959 PZd 667 (1998)); (3) denying Palmer time to prepare and continuances (see SQG, 38 2.18 at 19-20 (late production objections brushed aside), 4.29(2) at 53 (only about 15 days to prepare); see also AP (June 15, 2018) at 201-203, 205-206 ("fast track to trial")); thus, denying Palmer meaningful self-representation (US v Farias, 618 F3d 1049, 1053 (9th (ir 2010)). POI, counsel, selfrepresentation fall under US Const. amends. 6,14; Wash Const. art. 1,88 3,22.

1.7 ap scratch Material; Case File 17-140- (1) The ap scratch data/material was so important to the defense that:

(a) Palmer made his original statement in custody contingent on a promise to investigate it (SaG, § 2.13(1) at 16; RP (Jan. 26, 2018) at 49-52, 56-59; (b) filed a specific demand for ap scratch data (SaG, § 8, 2.2(5) at 12, 2.9 at 15-16; supp (P sub#'s 62, 63);

(c) subpoenaed deputy Holmes for the aD scratch material (500, §{2.2 (6) at 12, 2.9 at 15-16; supp (P sub# 145). (2) The ap scratch material was in sheriff's case file 17-140 (see appendix 5, trial exhibit 24 (Holmes Report), page 1, bottom right; see appendix 6, trial exhibit 23 (Sheriff's Report) at 5,18). The Sheriff's Report was dated 3-30-17 and written by Det. Ramirez (Sheriff's Report at 1,2), who pulled, read, copied and attached the abscratch case file 17-140 to the Sheriff's Report (Sheriff's Report at 5,18). (ase file 17-140 contained, in part, the Holmes Report and photos, Deanna (the mother) Statement and CPS report (Holmes Report at 3). The Holmes Report and its attachments had been sent to the prosecutor (RP (July 5, 2018) at 38) and read as the prosecutor declined to file charges (Sheriff's Report at 5). The Sheriff's Report and its attached case file 17-140 went to the prosecutor as the Sheriff's Report and Palmer's statement concerning the ab scratch (trial exhibit 1; see also RP (June 26,2018) at 236 (noting only photos provided by Palmer) were in the discovery. Therefore, the aD scratch material was provided to the prosecutor twice.

1.8 State Misconduct - The State engaged in flagrant misconduct to deny the defense the QD scratch material, case file 17-140, like: (i) failing to conduct the, in custody & uestioning, promised investigation of the QD scratch incident (SQG, § 2,13(1) at 17; RP (June 26, 2018) at 242; SQG, § 213(3) at 17) then not doing it and trying to cover up the promise (Id; RP (Jan. 26, 2018) at 48-59);

(2) failing to provide the Holmes Report, photos, Deannas Statement, and CPS report despite four general discovery requests (supp CP sub #'s 10,48,52,53,95) and three omnibuses (supp Cp sub#'s 13,14,22,24,98,99,133) and despite having been provided the abscratch case file 17-140 twice by the sheriff's office. (note the first copy of 17-140 was sent to the prosecutor about eighteen months prior to trial.); (3) promising in court that "We'll ask for ... " the abscratch data requested in Palmer's specific demand (supp (p sub#'s 62,63) to include the Holmes Report and Deanna's Statement (Sac, § 2.10(2) at 16; RP (Jan. 26, 2018) at 51-52) and then, five months later, asking Holmes in court, mid-trial; but, only providing the Holmes Report and photos-not the full ab scratch case file 17-140 as promised (see Sac, \$\$ 7.12 at 16, 2.13 (3) at 17; AP (July 3, 2018) at 265-266, 289-290); (4) not providing the requested protection order material (SQG, § 2.11(2); supp CP Sub# 62) or other court documents held by the sheriff's office (Sheriff's report at 21); (5) lying to the court to block the portions of Deanna Drummond subpeona requesting injury related photos and videos from Christmas day 2016 (aD scratch and PD choked (SaG, \$\$ 2.21-2.72 at 21-22)) by telling the court that only "hurting or abusing" photos came from Palmer (SaG, \$7.13 (4) at 17-18; supp (P sub# 143; RP (June 26,2018) at 234-238); (6) lying to the court by saying Holmes photos" weren't indicated in his

report" (SaG, \$ 2.13 (4) at 17-18; RP (July 3, 2018) at 265) when Holmes Report at 3 states "I took photographs"; (7) committing a material and relied upon fraud upon the court to block defense subpoena of Holmes for aD scratch material (supp CP sub # 145 at2) by lying to the court, indicating aD scratch material has "all been provided in the discovery " and "Those have all been provided. They were provided in the beginning to his defense counsels and again-everything was provided to him once he took over." (Sab, § 2,13 (3) at 17; RP (June 26, 2018) at 241-243); then, proving the fraud upon the court by providing Holmes Report and photos, mid-trial, (note-this fraud seems to violate not only CrR's 4.7(a)(1), 4.7(d), 4.7(h)(1); but, also breaking the law based on RCW 18.185.110, RCW 9A.72.080, RCW 9A.76.175); (8) on Jan. 29, 2018, helping draft and signing an illegal order, based on RCW 5.60.060, forcing Palmer to turn over all his attorneyclient protected notes on discovery review to the State, rather than his counsel (SaG, \$1.5-1.6 at 8-9; supp (P sub# 74); thereby, preventing Palmer's critical, imperative, and requested assistance with defense preparation (SQC, \$1.8 at 9; RP (gan. 26, 2018 at 151) and infringing on meaningful self-representation (US Const. amend. 6; Wash. Const. art.1, §22) as the illegal order was not amended until a week after Palmer was forced to go prose (SQG, \$1,8 at 9; supp CP sub#'s 124, 134).

1.9 Ramifications - The Brooks Court noted "potential ramifications if the State's behavior is not curfailed"

Brooks, 149 wnapp at 390-91. In Palmer's case, the State in the person of deputy prosecutor Erin Riley (Riley) has a known history of unethically violating discovery provision duties under CrR 4.7 by failing to act with reasonable diligence and making material misrepresentations to the court (5ac, § 2.33 at 27; State v Perez, Div. II (0a no. 48117-1-II, 2016 Wash App Lexis 3049 (Dec. 20, 2016). That should be another Brooks factor supporting dismissal of Palmer's charges.

(1) Hearings Prejudiced-The two Brooks prejudice factors(1) would have affected how witnesses interviewed and (2) prevents defense from timely preparing - also applied to the child hearsay and child competency hearings (supp CP sub#'s 72.1, 77.1, 82; RP (Jan. 26, 2018); RP (Feb. 6, 2018)) where niether the Holmes Report and photos, Deanna Statement, or CPS report was available. The Holmes Report was especially relevant to how PD and her mother, Deanna, were interviewed/cross-examined as: (1) the Holmes Report shows Wolmes interviewed them both so he was a potential witness and (2) the Holmes report never mentions double handed neck strangulation, it indicates Palmer grabbed the shoulder; thereby, making it impeaching to AD, PD, and Deanna who now claim AD was strangled (Holmes Report at 2-3).

1.11 Other Materiality - Palmer actually claims that the Holmes report was material to: (1) a venue change under

(rR 5.1(b,c) as it places the scratch as possibly happening in Thurston - County (SaG, \$\$ 2,15-2,16 at 18-19); (2) experts showing the scratch was possibly tampered with and could not have occurred as described (Sac, § 2.19 at 20-21); (3) it showed the existence of two other missing reports, one by a key witness, Deanna, the mother, and (4) it showed a reason for an to lie (missing reports and reason to lie at SQG, \$ 2,17 at 19). Further, the Holmes Report outlines parts of both the CPS report and Deanna Statement; thereby, supporting their materiality as the Deanna Statement supports venue change and the CPS report supports scratch tampering (Holmes Report at 2-3), 1.12 Conflict Summary-The Court of appeals holding that Palmer must demonstrate a Brady violation for the aD scratch material to get dismissal (slip op. at 17) is in conflict with Palmer's cited case State v Sherman (SaG, § 2,29 at 25; § 1.3 at 4-5 herein) and State v Brooks (§ 1,4 at 5 herein) both of which only require a promise by the State to provide specific discovery and then the States failure to provide that discovery (Sherman, 59 Wnapp at 768; Brooks, 149 Wnapp at 390-91). Prejudice is inferred. (Id). Palmer shows the States promise to provide the ab scratch material and then the failure to do so (§ 1,8(3) at 8; \$ 1,10 at 10 herein). Palmer shows the flagrant State misconduct the State engaged in. The Court of appeal decision should be reversed and Palmer should be granted dismissal based on Sherman and Brooks.

- Issue 2- Did the Court of appeals err in holding Palmer "fails to argue how the Holmes report or the photos themselves were exculpatory or impeaching"; when, based on Us v. agurs and Strickler v. Green, Palmer did argue a materially exculpatory issue for the Holmes Report, centered around venue change; thereby showing a due process Brady violation and supporting CrR 8.3(b) dismissal under State v Martinez?
- 2.1 Review of this issue should be accepted as: (1) the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with other Supreme Court and appellate court decisions (RAP 13.4(b)(1,2) and (2) significant questions of constitutional law are involved (RAP 13.4(b)(3) and the ramifications of flagrant misconduct by the State to deprive a person of access to significant constitutional rights by denying or delaying discovery is of significant and continuing public notice (RAP 13.4(b)(4)).
- 2.2 The Court of appeals held that Palmer's argument for dismissal fails as "Palmer fails to demonstrate a Brady violation... because he fails to argue how the Holmes report or the scratch photos themselves were exculpatory or impeaching...." Slip op. at 16-17. Palmer disagrees because the Court of appeals should have found the Holmes Report evidence allowing venue change under (rR 5.1(b,c) as materially exculpatory under US v. agues and showing prejudice under Strickler v. Green, especially when considered in the light of the flagrant governmental

misconduct in Grays Harbor County.

- 2.3 Agurs and Strickler-Material is materially exculpatory if it creates a reasonable probability, when considered in the context of the entire record, may have affected the outcome of the case. US v. Agurs, 427 us 97, 113-14, 96 sct 2392 (1976); Kyles v. Whitley, 514 us 419, 435, 115 SCt 1555 (1995). Prejudice occurs if there is a reasonable probability that, disclosure of evidence would have changed the case outcome. Strickler v Green, 527 us 263, 280, 119 SCt 1936 (1999).
- 2.4 CrR 5.1 (b,c) GrR 5.1 (b,c) indicates that, if there is a reasonable probability that the alleged crime or a portion thereof was committed in more than one county then the defense may choose the county of venue.
- 2.5 Palmer's Brady argument In the Sac, Palmer makes several arguments directed toward the Holmes Report and photos being Brady material: (1) Palmer names the abscratch material as Brady material (5ac, §§ 2.9 at 15, 2.13 at 16-18, 2.14 at 18 (all stating "AD scratch Brady material")); (2) Palmer shows that the abscratch material was knowingly suppressed through State mis conduct (5ac, §§ 2.14 at 18, 2.9-2.13 at 15-18; see also Issue 1, §§ 1.7-1.8 at 6-9, herein); (3) Palmer states that a small part of the abscratch material, Holmes Report and photos, was provided, too late for use at the child hearsay and child competency hearings, mid-trial July 3, 2018 when Palmer was denied; (a) counsel, (b) continuances, (c) fair

bail, and (d) the presumption of innocence (5a6, § 2.18 at 19-20; see generally Issue 1, 88 1.6 at 6, 1.8(3) at 8); and (4) noting that the Holmes Report show several material issues (see SQG, §§ 2.17 at 19, 2.19(2) at 20; see also Issue 1, \$1.11 at 10-11). Venue Change argument - 5aG, § 2.15 at 18 is where Palmer makes his argument about the Holmes Report being materially exculpatory base on venue change. He starts by noting "Prejudice to venue change" as "without Holmes report [Palmer] was unable to correctly move for a venue change (see CP 281-293, affidavit For Change Of Venue (may 11, 2018)) under (rR 5.1(b,c)... as the Holmes report indicates that the [AD] scratch happened on the way to Olympia which is in Thurston county" (Holmes Report at 2 (stating "It was reported that the family had been traveling to Olympia and Michael [Palmer] was driving. at one point, michael ... stopped the vehicle ... " Palmer agrees that the aD scratch "happened in Thurston" per Trial Exhibit 10 at E4-E5. SaG, & 6.15 at 18. 1.7 Deanna Statement - The Holmes Report becomes even more materially exculpatory as Holmes outlines a part of the never provided Deanna Statement, that had been attached to the Holmes Report, stating "Deanna provided me a statement She said on December 17th, 2016, Michael, [PD], [AD], [LP] and she were traveling to Olympia at

one point....". Holmes Report at 3.

2.8 Reasonable Probability - The Holmes Report indicates that

Deanna, AD and PD lived in Mc(leary in Grays Harbor County and that the scratch happened on the way to Olympia in Thurston County "At one point..."; thus, showing that the AD scratch, the basis for the RCW 9A.36.041 assault charge against AD, could have happened in Grays Harbor County or Thurston County; thereby, allowing the defense to change venue based or CrR5.1(b,c).

affected Outcome - Logically, a venue change of just one charge affect the entire trial of all charges just by the fact that there would only be two charges in Grays Harbor County and the charge in Thurston County would have a different judge, prosecutor, defense attorney, and jury; however, palmer lists how the venue change would have benefitted the defence in SQG, \$ 2.16 at 18-19. Those benefits include: (1) the presumption of innocence; (2) reduced prejudice from joinder (see SQG, § D.2 at 6) by severing a charge; (3) designation of one provably false charge, the aD scratch (see generally Sac, 88 D4-D.5 at 6); (4) provided counsel (see slip op. at 6,10); (5) provided proper discovery (see generally SQG, §\$ 2.11-2.12 at 16); 6) provided an expert medical witness to show the an scratch did not occur as described (see Sac, \$ 2,19 at 20-21; and (7) allowed bias and previous perjury of Deanna. Sac, \$2.16 at 18-19.

rights that Crays Harbor trial court deprived him of and he should have regained via venue change: (1) counsel (see Issue 1, \$1.6(2) at 6 (noting fair trial violated (Boyd, 160 wnzd at 434) and uncalculable prejudice (Granacki, 90 Wn app at 603)); (2) the presumption of innocence (see Issue 1, § 1.6(1) at 6 (noting fair trial violated (Jamie, 168 Wn2d at 861) and great prejudice (Johnson, 159 Wnapp at 685-86)); (3) expert medical testimony which was critical to showing als scratch did not occur by strangulation (see SaG, \$2.19 at 20-21) as the trial court: denied both medical expert subpoenas (supp CP sub #'s 147, 150) and denied expert testimony and funds citing (rR 4.7(b)(1); yet, Palmer never received an omnibus hearing or all the (rR 4.5 rights that go with it (see generally RP (June 26, 2018) at 282-283; see also Boyd, 160 Wn Zd at 434 (noting expert witnesses may be crucial part of due process and fair trial); (4) confrontation (see slip op. at 10-12; see also State v Crawford, 147 wn 2d 424, 431, 54 P3d 656 (2002) (noting confrontation is fundamental to fair trial)); (5) time to prepare as counsel said ninety days needed (RP(Feb. 14,2018) at 188); yet, Palmer only got 17 (see RP(gune 15,2018) at 201-203, 205-206) (noting "fast track to trial") and late disclosure of evidence denies time to adequately prepare and brings prejudice (State v. Michielli, 132 wn2d 229, 240, 937 P2d 587 (1997); see also Boyd, 160 Wn 2d at 434 (noting access to evidence crucial to due process and fair trial)) and is sufficient to support (rR 8.3(b) dismissal (State u. Price, 94 Wn2d 810, 814, 620 PZd 994 (1980)). US Const. amends 6,14.

- 2.11 Materially Exculpatory-Based on agurs, Palmer shows that the Holmes Report was materially exculpatory as it contained evidence allowing venue change which would affect the outcome of the case especially in light of the prejudice and misconduct Palmer faced in Grays Harbor (see generally §§ 2.5-2.10 at 13-16, herein). This also shows prejudice under Strickler as disclosure and venue change would have severed one charge and restored many of the rights Palmer was deprived of (see generally §§ 2.9-2.10 at 15-16. Agurs, 427 US at 113-114; Strickler, 527 US at 280.
- 2.12 Brady Violation Palmer's argument on the Holmes Report's venue changing evidence meet all three Brady violation components: (1) favorable to accused as exculpatory (see § 2.11, above); (2) suppressed willfully by State (see Issue 1, § 1.8 at 7-9, herein); and (3) material as it caused prejudice (see § 2.11, above); therefore, the Court of appeals erred in holding no Holmes Report Brady argument was made.
- 2.13 Martinez Dismissal-State v. Martinez (121 Wnapp 21, 86 p3d 1210 (2004)) is a (rR 8.3(b) dismissal case that Palmer cites to at Sa6, 58 2.29-2.30 at 25-26. The Martinez Court held that failure to disclose long obvious, materially exculpatory evidence until mid-trial: (1) prejudices a defendants rights to effective assistance of counsel and adequate trial preparation and (2) is so repugnant to the principles of fundamental fairness that it violates due process and may bar a subsequent prosecution of the defendant. Martinez, 121 Wn app at 35-36. The Martinez Court also found that "Retrial"

will not seriously deter the conduct of the withholding of exculpatory evidence in the future." so dismissal with prejudice is the proper remedy. Id.

2.14 Palmer Dismissal - Palmer meets the requirments of (rR 8.3(b)) dismissal under Martinez as in Palmer's case, the State, which has a known history of withholding exculpatory evidence (see Issue 1, § 1.9 at 9-10, herein), withheld the materially exculpatory Holmes Report (see Issue 2, § 2.11 at 17 (noting materially exculpatory)) despite having possession of said report eighteen months prior to trial (see Issue 1, § 1.7 at 6-7) and having promised to ask for the QD scrath data, which contained the Holmes Report, over five months prior to trial (see Issue1, § 1.8 (3) at 8). After multiple frauds upon the court by advising the trial court that all discovery had been provided through three omnibuses and the hearing requesting to subpoena the QD scratch data (see Issue1, § 1.8 (2,7) at 8-9), the State provided the Holmes Report and photos mid-trial (see Issue 1, § 1.8(3) at 8). Martinez dismissal standards are met and Palmers case should be dismissed with prejudice.

F. Conclusion

The Court of appeals committed err in Palmer's direct appeal, no. 52362-1-II when addressing Palmer's Statement Of additional Grounds at Ground 2.

First, by holding that Palmer's arguments for dismissal, due to flagrant discovery violations by the State, need

a Brady violation to succeed, when Palmer cited to a case, State v. Sherman, which allows dismissal for discovery violations by the State without a Brady violation. Palmer also found a more on point case, State v. Brooks. Based on the level of governmental misconduct in Palmer's case due to delay and denial of requested and promised discovery combined with fraud upon the court as to the provision of discovery by the State - Palmer's case should be dismissed with prejudice based on the standards set forth in 8.3(b), State v. Sherman and State v. Brooks.

Second, by holding that Palmer's argument for dismissal fails due to Palmer not arguing a Brady violation based on no showing as to how the Holmes Report was exculpatory. Palmer shows that, based on the ability to change venue, the evidence in the Holmes Report would affect the outcome of the case and is therefore materially exculpatory based on US v Agurs and Palmer suffered prejudice based on Strickler v. Green. So, a Brady violation was shown and Palmer's case should be dismissed based on State v. Martinez.

The first err was addressed in Issue 1. The second was addressed in Issue 2.

Rap 1.2 (a, c)

This Court has the power to liberally interprete, alter or

waive its rules to promote and serve justice. What happened in Grays Harbor was extremely unjust. Palmer prays this Court will grant waiver of anything messed up herein.

Based on the foregoing facts and arguments, this Court should accept review.