FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/2/2023 11:34 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 101475-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. MICHAEL LEON PALMER, Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

THE HONORABLE DAVID L. EDWARDS, JUDGE

NORMA J. TILLOTSON Prosecuting Attorney for Grays Harbor County

BY:

WILLIAM A. LERAAS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA # 15489

OFFICE AND POST OFFICE ADDRESS Grays Harbor County Prosecuting Attorney 102 West Broadway Room 102 Montesano, WA 98563 (360) 249-3951

TABLES

COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was convicted, after a jury trial in Grays Harbor County Superior Court, cause number 17-1-203-1, of child molestation in the first degree, assault in the fourth degree and assault of a child in the second degree.

While his appeal was pending, Appellant filed an amended statement of additional grounds (SAG) alleging five grounds: 1) Violation of Attorney / Client privilege (with 16 subsections); 2) *Brady* violation (*Brady v*. *Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963)) (with 33 subsections); 3) Denial of fair bail, least restrictive conditions of release, and counsel (with 22 subsections); 4) Violation of time for trial rights (both CrR 3.3 and speedy trial) (with 37 subsections); 5) Cumulative error (with 7 subsections).

The Court of Appeals issued an opinion on August 19, 2021 reversing and remanding for a new trial because the

trial court denied Mr. Palmer's right to counsel. The court declined to address the statement of additional grounds.

Petitioner argued in both his SAG that and Motion for Reconsideration that the remedy for the violations alleged is dismissal, not simply a new trial.

The Court of Appeals withdrew its previously issued opinion and issued a new opinion on October 11, 2022, this time considering petitioner's SAG.

The Court of Appeals again reversed Appellant's convictions and remanded for a new trial:

We conclude that the trial court committed reversible error by denying Palmer his right to counsel. However, we conclude that none of Palmer's SAG arguments warrant a reversal or dismissal of his convictions with prejudice. We reverse the convictions and remand to the trial court for a new trial.

In considering petitioner's SAG the Court of

Appeals specifically found no Brady violation, and

found that many of his other arguments were unsupported by the record.

Appellant's attorney filed another motion for reconsideration asking the Court of Appeals to reconsider its denial of Appellant's supplemental designation of clerk's papers.

The Court of Appeals denied the motion for reconsideration. This petition followed.

ARGUMENT

Review of a decision of the Court of Appeals will be accepted by this Court only if the decision conflicts with a decision of the this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals, presents a significant question of law under either the state or U.S. Constitution, or if it involves an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3) and (4). Mr. Palmer claims that the Court of Appeals erred in holding that the proper remedy in this case is remand for a new trial for any alleged *Brady* violation, and that this Court should accept review as the decision below conflicts with other published cases. Mr. Palmer is incorrect.

1. The Court of Appeals below found that there was no *Brady* rule violation, and its decision does not conflict with any published decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals.

In Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 86-87, 83 S. Ct.

1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963) the U.S. Supreme Court held that the state's failure to disclose evidence favorable to the defendant that is material to the issue of guilt or punishment violates due process.

The three components of a *Brady* violation are (1) the evidence must be favorable to the accused (either exculpatory or impeaching); (2) the evidence must have been *suppressed* by the State (either intentionally or inadvertently), and; (3) resulting prejudice. *Strickler v. Greene*, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82, 119 S. Ct. 1936, 144 L. Ed. 2d 286 (1999). Neither Appellant's SAG nor his motion for reconsideration engages in such analysis. While there may have been documents or other evidence that the Appellant would have liked to have had to prepare for his trial, or that he thought was relevant, simply wanting it and not getting it does not result in a *Brady* violation.

While a *Brady* violation may warrant a dismissal in extreme cases, such a case is rare:

Brady violations are most commonly raised after conviction as a basis for a new trial; *they seldom warrant a dismissal*. The United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia has summarized the *postconviction* remedy analysis for a *Brady* violation as follows:

> (1) a *Brady* violation requires a remedy of a new trial; (2) such new trial may require striking evidence, a special jury instruction, or other additional curative measures tailored to address persistent prejudice; and (3) if the lingering prejudice of a *Brady* violation has removed all possibility that the defendant could receive a new trial that is fair, the indictment must be dismissed. *To be sure, dismissal is appropriate only as a last*

resort, where no other remedy would cure prejudice against a defendant.

State v. Batsell, 198 Wn. App. 1066 (2017) at 5
(unpublished, cited pursuant to GR 14.1) (emphasis on *postconviction* in the original; emphasis on *they seldom* warrant a dismissal added) quoting United States v. Pasha,
797 F.3d 1122, 1139 (D.C. Cir 2015) (emphasis added by
Court of Appeals). In In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson, 174
Wn.2d 474,276 P.3d 286 (2011), a murder case, after finding a Brady violation the court reversed the conviction and remanded for a new trial, not a dismissal.

After what the State assumes was a thorough review of the record, appellate attorney did not see fit to include evidentiary rulings by the trial court nor a *Brady* violation as issues on appeal. Nor has Mr. Palmer shown in his petition why a dismissal, and not a new trial, is the appropriate remedy for such an alleged violation, if any.

6

Petitioner argues that the appropriate and *required* remedy for an alleged *Brady* violation is dismissal, relying on *State v. Sherman*, 59 Wn. App. 763, 801 P.2d 274 (1990) and *State v. Brooks*, 149 Wn. App. 373, 203 P.3d 397 (2009).

Neither *Sherman* nor *Brooks* dealt with exculpatory evidence, but rather addressed governmental mismanagement. In *Sherman*, defense counsel moved for dismissal on the day of trial under CrR 4.7(h)(7)(i) (the rule reads the same now as it did at the time of the *Sherman* decision), which allows the court to impose sanctions for discovery violations up to and including dismissal; the court granted the motion and the state appealed. While affirming, the court held that "[d]ismissal of charges is an extraordinary remedy. It is available only when there has been prejudice to the rights of the accused which materially affected the rights of the accused to a fair trial and that prejudice cannot be remedied by granting a new trial." *Sherman*, 59 Wn. App. at 767 (quoting *State v. Baker*, 78 Wn.2d 327, 332-33, 474 P.2d 254 (1970)). "When they deem necessary, Washington appellate courts have not hesitated in overturning a trial court's dismissal of charges." *Id*. "[w]hether dismissal is an appropriate remedy is a factspecific determination that must be resolved on a case-bycase basis." *Id*. at 770-71.

Brooks also dealt with a dismissal under CrR 8.3 for government mismanagement, not exculpatory evidence. Once again, while affirming, the court held that "dismissal under CrR 8.3 is an extraordinary remedy, *one that the trial court should use only as a last resort.*" *Brooks*, 149 Wn. App. at 384.

Sherman and Brooks, relied upon by petitioner, dealt with dismissals for government mismanagement of discovery obligations, not Brady violations for failure to disclose exculpatory evidence. Further, they do not stand for the proposition that a dismissal is mandatory for a discovery violation. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with either case. The petition should be denied on this ground.

2. Venue is not material to the issue of guilt or innocence.

Petitioner argues that the State violated the *Brady* rule by failing to produce "AD scratch" material and the "Holmes report" and associated photographs. Petitioner further argues that these documents or evidence were material to the issue of venue and is thus exculpatory or impeaching (petition, issue 2.) This is apparently related to the charge of assault of a child which occurred in the car while the family was on its way from McCleary to Thurston county. Petition for review, page 11. However, venue is not an element of the crime. *State v. Rocki,* 130 Wn. App. 293, 297, 122 P.3d 759 (2005). Rather, "it is a constitutional right that is waived if not asserted in a timely fashion." *Id.* Thus, it is not material to the issue of guilt or innocence, and the outcome of the trial would have been no different. Furthermore, Petitioner was interviewed regarding this incident. Petition for review, appendix 6 (police report), page17 (not the "Holmes report"). Thus, petitioner was in the best position to know whether the offense occurred in Grays Harbor County or Thurston County. As the court below correctly held, "[a] *Brady* violation does not arise if the defendant, using reasonable diligence, could have obtained the information at issue." *State v. Palmer*, 52362-1-II 10/11/22 Slip. Op. p.16 (quoting *State v. Sublett*, 156 Wn. App. 160, 200, 231 P.3d 231 (2010)).

3. Petitioner has not briefed the issue of bail (petition, issue 3) and thus that issue should not be considered by the Court. In any event, the issue is moot.

As the Court of Appeals correctly held, the issue of pretrial bail is moot. An issue is moot if the appellate court cannot provide effective relief. *Ctr. for Biological Diversity v.* *Dep't of Fish & Wildlife*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 945, 985, 474 P.3d 1107 (2020). Furthermore, petitioner has not briefed this issue. "[P]assing treatment of an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration." *In re Guardianship of Ursich*, 10 Wn. App. 2d 263, 278, 448 P.3d 112 (2019).

This Court should not consider this issue.

4. The State leaves the motion for extension of time to file the Petition to the Court's discretion.

The State has no personal knowledge with which to address the factual statements in Mr. Palmer's and Mr. Lechich's motions for an extension to file the petition for review. The State leaves it to the sound discretion of this Court whether or not to grant the extension.

The state is not requesting that the petition be denied as untimely, but as failing to satisfy the requirements of RAP 13.4(b).

CONCLUSION

Mr. Palmer's petition for review fails to satisfy the requirements of RAP 13.4(b) and should be denied. The decision below does not conflict with any published decision of the Court of Appeals or of this Court. The issues raised by petitioner do not present significant questions under either the state or federal constitutions nor do they present significant questions of substantial public interest that should be decided by this court.

Mr. Palmer makes several allegations, none of which are in the record, as pointed out by the Court of Appeals.

None of the issues raised in his SAG nor petition for review merit dismissal. The decision of the Court of Appeals below was correct.

For all the foregoing reasons, the petition for review should be denied.

This document contains 1838 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.